IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	
Plaintiff-Appellee,))
v.	Supreme Court 17-1147
RODNEY L. HANNEMAN,))
Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARTHA J. LUCEY Assistant Appellate Defender mlucey@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

DID THE STATE PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE HANNEMAN COMMITTED THEFT BY TAKING IN VIOLATION OF IOWA CODE SECTION 714.1(1)?

Authorities

State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 229 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984)

State v. Crone, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1075 (1970)

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 247 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Code § 714.1(1) (2017)

State v. Williams, 328 N.W.2d 504, 506 n.3 (Iowa 1983)

4 J. Yeager and R. Carlson, Iowa Practice: Criminal Law and Procedure §§ 311-12 (1979)

Iowa Code § 714.1 (2017)

State v. Donaldson, 663 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 2003)

Model Penal Code § 223.2 cmt. 2, at 165 (1980)

State v. Jackson, 101 N.W.2d 731, 735 (1960)

State v. Nall, 894 N.W.2d 514, 524 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Hershberger, 534 N.W.2d 464, 465-66 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Lewis, 242 N.W.2d 711, 723 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Thornburgh, 220 N.W.2d 579, 585-86 (Iowa 1974)

State v. Jones, 289 N.W.2d 597, 599 (Iowa 1980)

U.S. Const. amend VI

Iowa Const. art. I, §10

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Appellant Rodney Hanneman appeals following a jury trial, judgment and sentence, to the charge of theft in the second degree as an habitual offender in violation of Iowa Code section 714.2(2) and 902.9 (2017).

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below: On March 20, 2017, the State charged Hanneman with theft in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code section 714.2(2). The Trial Information did not specify the theft alternative alleged. (TI) (App. pp. 5-6). Hanneman was arraigned on March 23, 2017. Hanneman stood on his right to a speedy trial. (3/23/17 PTC Order) (App. p. 7). After one continuance, the jury trial was scheduled for May 22, 2017 (4/14/17 PTC Order) (App. p. 10).

On May 17, 2017, the State moved to amend the Trial Information. (5/17/17 Motion to Amend TI) (App. pp. 13-14).

The amended Trial Information charged theft in the second degree in violation of Iowa Code section 714.2(2) and specified the alternative as "theft in the second degree by taking property belonging to Cody Pratt". The amended Trial Information also included the habitual offender sentencing enhancement. (5/17/17 Amended TI) (App. pp. 15-16). Hanneman resisted the State's motion to amend. (5/17/17 Tr. p. 3L17-p. 4L14). The court granted the motion to amend. (5/17/17 Order to Amend TI) (App. pp. 19-20).

Just prior to trial, the State filed another motion to amend the Trial Information. The State sought to amend the Trial Information to charge the general language "theft in the second degree, in violation of Section 714.2(2) of the Code of Iowa." (5/23/17 Motion to Amend TI p. 1) (App. p. 21). The prosecution wished to include the theory of the degree of theft based upon the motor vehicle alternative. The State also asserted "[t]hat this case has always concerned the taking of a motor vehicle belonging to Cody Pratt. (5/23/17 Motion to Amend TI p. 2) (App. p. 22). The district court scheduled a

hearing the morning of trial. (5/23/17 Order to Amend TI) (App. pp. 32-33).

At the hearing, the prosecutor acknowledged he had accidently filed an amended Trial Information he did not want. (Tr. p. 30L9-p. 31L22; 5/23/17 8:08 AM Amended TI) (App. pp. 24-27). The prosecutor wished to amend the Trial Information to charge "theft in the second degree, in violation of section 714.2(2)" and "the habitual offender language." The State intended to argue multiple theories: taking and exercising control over stolen property. (Tr. p. 32L7-23, p. 46L24-p. 47L6; 5/23/17 9:47 AM Amended TI) (App. pp. 28-31). Hanneman resisted the amendment. (Tr. p. 33L22-p. 17, p. 37L23-p. 39L4). The district court granted the State's motion to amend the Trial Information to include the broad language of theft in the second degree but ruled the State could not argue the alternative theory of theft by exercising control over stolen property. (Tr. p. 47L7-p. 48L8, p. 55L12-p. 56L20, p. 59L16-p. 60L12).

A jury trial began on May 22, 2017. (Tr. p. 1L1-25). On May 24, 2017, the jury found Hanneman guilty as charged. (Order for PSI) (App. pp. 35-37). On July 6, 2017, Hanneman was sentenced to be incarcerated for a period not to exceed fifteen years. Hanneman was also ordered to pay \$3,395.88 in restitution to Cody Pratt. (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 38-40). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on July 12, 2017. (Notice) (App. p. 41).

Facts: On February 17, 2017, Cody Pratt reported his 2008 Yamaha WR250X motorcycle stolen. (Tr. p. 73L7-19, 77L14-17, p. 78L8-13, p. 106L12-14). Pratt had last observed the motorcycle on February 14th. It had been parked in the corner of his back porch area. (Tr. p. 77L6-p. 78L4, p. 107L22-p. 108L1). The motorcycle had a wheel lock in place and was locked. (Tr. p. 77L6-13, p. 114L24-p. 116L8). In order to move the motorcycle, someone would have had to drill through the bracket of the triple clamp to break the wheel lock or they would have had to drag the bike out of the yard. (Tr. p.

16L9-p. 117L20). Pratt checked with his neighbors who did not see anything. (Tr. p. 78L8-13).

Sometime during the evening of February 17th, Officer Stegall observed a motorcycle accelerate "rapidly popping a wheelie bringing the bike off the ground." The motorcycle did not have a license plate or turn signals. Stegall conducted a traffic stop. Hanneman was the driver of the motorcycle. (Tr. p. 128L18-p. 129L24). Hanneman did not produce proof of registration. Stegall then looked at the VIN which was scratched off except the last five numbers. (Tr. p. 130L11-p. 131L17). Dispatch attempted to run the VIN but they were not able to get any information. (Tr. p. 133L18-p. 134L8). The motorcycle was impounded until the owner had proof of ownership and insurance. (Tr. p. 135L14-19).

Stegall was off work a couple of days after the February 17th traffic stop. When he returned to work, he checked the BOLOS which are things police are looking for, such as stolen vehicles, or missing people. Stegall noticed a Yamaha motorcycle reported stolen and he looked at his notes. The last

five numbers of the VIN matched the bike he had stopped. (Tr. p. 134L19-p. 135L7).

Stegall at the tow yard. Pratt identified the motorcycle as belonging to him. (Tr. p. 78L14-21, p. 79L3-16, p. 82L1-15, p. 135L12-19). All but the last five numbers of the VIN had been scratched off. (Tr. p. 92L1-3, p. 95L24-p. 96L5; Ex. 8) (Ex. App. p. 15). The motorcycle had been painted, the ignition key had been changed to a switch, the tailpipe bracket holding the turn signals and license plate had been removed, the footpegs had been removed, the front turn signals had been removed, and stickers had been removed. (Tr. p. 84L11-p. 86L5; Exs. 1, 2, 3, 4) (Ex. App. pp. 3-10). Pratt paid the tow fee and took the motorcycle home. (Tr. p. 78L14-21).

Pratt did not know Hanneman. Pratt testified he did not give Hanneman permission to possess his motorcycle. (Tr. p. 104L2-11).

Pratt obtained an estimate to repair the motorcycle. The estimate was approximately \$2700. (Tr. p. 103L18-p. 104L1;

Ex. 6a) (Ex. App. pp. 13-14). Pratt believed the motorcycle was valued at \$3500. (Tr. p. 113L5-24).

Kira Pauley testified that Hanneman had a Yamaha motorcycle in early February. (Tr. p. 147L9-23, p. 148L25-p. 149L3). Pauley had several pictures of the motorcycle which were taken on February 7th. (Tr. p. 150L2-p. 152L17; Exs. A, B) (Ex. App. pp. 17-20). Hanneman was driving the motorcycle he had had since early February when he was arrested on February 17th. (Tr. p. 164L9-19). Pauley did not make a claim to get the bike back because she did not have a title for the motorcycle. (Tr. p. 156L13-19).

ARGUMENT

THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE HANNEMAN COMMITTED THEFT BY TAKING IN VIOLATION OF IOWA CODE SECTION 714.1(1).

Standard of Review.

The Court reviews challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence for corrections of legal error. State v. Heard, 636 N.W.2d 227, 229 (Iowa 2001). The alternative claim of

ineffective assistance of counsel is accorded de novo review.

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987).

Preservation of Error.

Hanneman moved for a judgment of acquittal. (Tr. p. 138L1-p. 140L20). The motion for judgment of acquittal preserved error on the issue presented. State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981). If this Court determines defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal was insufficient to preserve error on the deficiency in the State's proof, counsel's failure to preserve error deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). See State v. Crone, 545 N.W.2d 267, 270 (Iowa 1996) (motion for judgment of acquittal does not preserve error where there was no reference to specific grounds in district court.).

Discussion.

The ultimate burden is on the State to prove every fact necessary to constitute the offense with which a defendant has

been charged. State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W.2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976) (citing In Re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1075 (1970)). Due process guarantees that no person shall suffer the onus of a conviction except upon sufficient proof defined as evidence necessary to convince a trier of fact beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of each and every element of the offense. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979).

The jury's findings of guilt are binding on appeal if supported by substantial evidence. State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 377 (Iowa 1998). Substantial evidence is such evidence as would convince a rational trier of fact that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Allen, 348 N.W.2d 243, 247 (Iowa 1984). In deciding if there is substantial evidence the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, but it considers all the evidence presented at trial and not just the evidence which supports the verdict. State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 340 (Iowa 1980). The evidence must raise a fair inference of guilt as to each

essential element of the crime. Evidence which merely raises suspicion, speculation, or conjecture is insufficient. State v. Casady, 491 N.W.2d 782, 787 (Iowa 1992). Evidence that allows two or more inferences to be drawn, without more, is insufficient to support guilt. State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 618-19 (Iowa 2004).

The State was required to prove the following elements of theft in the second degree:

Alternative A:

- 1. On or about the 17th day of February, 2017, in Scott County, Iowa, the defendant took possession or control of a Yamaha motorcycle.
- 2. The defendant did so with the specific intent to permanently deprive Cody Pratt of the motorcycle.
- 3. At the time of the taking, the motorcycle belonged to Cody Pratt.

OR

Alternative B:

1. On or about the 17th day of February, 2017, in Scott County, Iowa, the defendant took possession or control of a motor vehicle.

- 2. The defendant did so with the specific intent to permanently deprive Cody Pratt of the motor vehicle.
- 3. At the time of the taking, the motor vehicle belonged to Cody Pratt.
- 4. The motor vehicle's value did not exceed \$10,000.

 (Ins. 16) (App. p. 34). See Iowa Code § 714.1(1) (2017). The State failed to prove Hanneman committed theft by taking in violation of Iowa Code section 714.1(1).

The 1979 revision of the Code consolidated the many separate theft offenses of the pre-revised criminal code into a single offense, theft, under section 714.1. State v. Williams, 328 N.W.2d 504, 506 n.3 (Iowa 1983) (citing 4 J. Yeager and R. Carlson, Iowa Practice: Criminal Law and Procedure §§ 311-12 (1979)). Section 714.1 defines ten ways in which theft may be committed. Iowa Code § 714.1 (2017). Theft is a single offense and the subsections are merely an alternative means of committing the same offense. State v. Williams, 328 N.W.2d 504, 506 n.3 (Iowa 1983).

The Iowa theft statute is modeled after the Model Penal Code, with slight variations. State v. Donaldson, 663 N.W.2d

882, 885 (Iowa 2003)(citing Model Penal Code § 223.2 cmt. 2, at 165 (1980)). The commentaries to the Model Penal Code explain the intended scope of section 223.2(1), theft by unlawful taking or disposition.¹

This consolidation is accomplished by the provision in Subsection (1) that a person is guilty of theft if he "unlawfully takes, or exercises unlawful control over", the property of another. As is elaborated below, acts traditionally classified as larceny are encompassed principally by the language of "unlawfully takes" the property of another. Acts traditionally classified as embezzlement are covered chiefly by the provision dealing with one who "exercises unlawful control" over another's property.

Model Penal Code § 223.2 cmt. 2, at 163 (1980).

The words "unlawfully takes" have been chosen to cover the assumption of physical possession or control without consent or authority, which, as noted above, includes the typical common-law category of larceny. The language "exercises unlawful control" applies at the moment the custodian of property begins to use it in a manner beyond his authority and thus includes the typical embezzlement situation. The word "unlawful" in each instance implies the lack of consent or authority and specifically the absence of any defense under Section 2.11, Section 223.1(3) or Article 3.

The typical charging under the Model Penal Code provision should specify that the actor unlawfully took or exercised

¹ Model Penal Code section 223.2(1) provides: Movable Property. A person is guilty of theft if he unlawfully takes, or exercises unlawful control over, movable property of another with purpose to deprive him thereof.

control over the property of another with the requisite purpose, thus making the method of exercising control relevant only the extent it shed light on the authority of the actor to behave as he did. Apart from the requirement of a purpose to deprive another of his property, the critical inquiry is thus twofold: whether the actor had control of the property, no matter how he got it, and whether the actor's acquisition or use of the property was authorized.

Id. at 165-166.

Iowa's theft statute varies from the Model Penal Code as the Iowa legislature enacted separate alternatives for each type of theft. Iowa Code § 714.1 (2017). Iowa Code section 714.1(1), theft by taking, is the wrongful taking of possession or control. Iowa Code § 714.1(1) (2017); 4 J. Yeager and R. Carlson, Iowa Practice: Criminal Law and Procedure § 313 (1979). The definition of theft by "taking" is derived from the former crime of larceny. Id. "Larceny" is defined as the wrongful taking and carrying away by a person of personal property of another from any place, with a felonious intent to convert it to the taker's own use without the consent of the owner. State v. Jackson, 101 N.W.2d 731, 735 (1960). However, the Iowa theft statute no longer requires "asportation" or carrying away. State v. Donaldson, 663 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 2003).

Recently, in <u>Nall</u>, the Supreme Court confirmed the distinction between the alternative means to commit theft. In order to "take" possession or control under section 714.1(1), a person must acquire property without the consent or authority of another. <u>State v. Nall</u>, 894 N.W.2d 514, 524 (Iowa 2017).

This conclusion affirms the importance of the method of obtaining property under section 714.1 and avoids rendering section 714.1(3) and 714.1(6) superfluous. Any other interpretation would have the practical effect of transforming our theft-by-taking statute into a catch-all provision, which we do not believe the legislature intended. To the contrary, it seems clear that the legislature based section 714.1(1) on the prior crime of larceny as modified by the Model Penal Code provision on theft by taking. This interpretation also accounts for the rule of lenity.

<u>Id</u>.

The State failed to prove Hanneman "took" Pratt's motorcycle from his back porch as required by Iowa Code section 714.1(1). The evidence showed that the motorcycle was removed sometime between February 14th and February 17th. (Tr. p. 77L14-p. 78L11, p. 107L2-8). The record does

not show when it was actually taken as Pratt did not notice the bike was missing until sometime on February 17th. There were no witnesses to the removal of the bike. (Tr. p. 78L8-13). The bike was locked. The only way to move it would have been to drill out the locking mechanism, pick it up or drag it out of the yard. (Tr. p. 77L6-13, p. 114L24-p. 117L20). The State presented no physical evidence from Pratt's back porch or yard to show Hanneman was present when the motorcycle was taken. Hanneman made no admissions to taking the motorcycle.

The State's evidence centered on Hanneman's possession of the motorcycle on February 17th and the alterations made to the motorcycle. The alterations to the motorcycle do not lend any support to the element Hanneman took the motorcycle.

Compare State v. Hershberger, 534 N.W.2d 464, 465-66 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)(evidence that defendant was in possession of motorcycle and trying to change its appearance sometime after motorcycle was removed from owner's porch was sufficient to support finding that there was a taking.). There was no

evidence presented when the motorcycle was altered or that Hanneman altered it.

The evidence demonstrates Hanneman had possession of the motorcycle. However, this possession alone does not prove he took the motorcycle from Pratt's property. Cf. State v. Lewis, 242 N.W.2d 711, 723 (Iowa 1976) (where a party in possession of recently stolen property is charged with burglary there must be evidence in the record relating to the surrounding circumstances for the jury to consider in determining whether the evidence warrants a finding beyond a reasonable doubt of the presumed fact defendant committed the breaking and entering from the proved fact he possessed recently stolen property.). See also State v. Thornburgh, 220 N.W.2d 579, 585-86 (Iowa 1974)(a jury instruction allowing the jury to infer the defendant stole the property when he had unexplained possession of the recently stolen property was not unconstitutional). The entire record must be considered in assessing the strength of the State's evidence whether an inference Hanneman took the motorcycle based on his

possession of recently stolen property can be made. State v. Lewis, 242 N.W.2d at 723.

"Recent"... is not necessarily measured by the number of hours or days or weeks involved. The nature of the articles, and the circumstances of the case are pertinent elements. The length of time is a question to be considered by the jury together with all other factors in the case.

As to the character of the stolen goods it depends to some extent on whether they are readily and easily transferable; light or heavy; easy or hard to identify.

State v. Jones, 289 N.W.2d 597, 599 (Iowa 1980)(other citations omitted).

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