IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1147

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

RODNEY L. HANNEMAN, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARLITA A. GREVE, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

MARTHA E. TROUT

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) martha.trout@ag.iowa.gov

MICHAEL WALTON Scott County Attorney

SAMUEL HUFF Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Counsel Effectively Represented the Defendant At Trial; Sufficient Evidence Exists In the Record to Support the Defendant's Conviction For Theft By Taking.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56 (Iowa 2002)

Ledezma v. State, 626 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2001)

Millam v. State, 745 N.W.2d 719 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Lewis, 242 N.W.2d 711 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Conger, 434 N.W.2d 406 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

State v. Donaldson, 663 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003)

State v. Hall, 371 N.W.2d 187 (Iowa Ct. App. 1985)

State v. Hershberger, 534 N.W.2d 464 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Jones, 289 N.W.2d 597 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Lane, 743 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Morris, 677 N.W.2d 787

State v. Nall, 894 N.W.2d 514 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Schminkey, 597 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Williams, 328 N.W.2d 504 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Zbornik, 248 Iowa 450, 80 N.W.2d 735 (Iowa 1957)

Iowa Code § 714.1(1)

Iowa Code §702.14

Model Penal Code § 223.2(1) (Am. Law Inst. 1962)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.

Transfer to the Court of Appeals would be appropriate. Iowa R. App.

P. 6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Rodney L. Hanneman appeals his conviction for second-degree theft as a habitual offender. The Honorable Marlita A. Greve presided over the proceedings in Scott County, Iowa. The issue in the appeal is whether counsel was ineffective in failing to properly challenge the sufficiency of the evidence in the motion for judgment of acquittal.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts the defendant's course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

On February 17, 2017, Davenport police officer Michael Stegall was on patrol when he saw a motorcycle "popping a wheelie" on 3rd Street in the city. Trial Tr. p. 129, lines 12-21. The officer noticed that the motorcycle had no license plates or turn signals. Trial Tr. p. 129, lines 12-24.

When the motorcycle stopped for a traffic light at 4th Street, the officer initiated a traffic stop. Trial Tr. p. 129, line 25 through p. 130, line 10. Officer Stegall approached the vehicle and asked the driver, who he identified as Hanneman, to turn the vehicle off. Trial Tr. p. 130, lines 2-10. Hanneman turned off the motorcycle but could not provide a valid license or registration, proof of insurance for the motorcycle, or a driver's license. Trial Tr. p. 130, lines 2-10. The officer looked for a VIN but most of the seventeen numbers had been scratched off. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 2. Only five numbers were visible. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 2. The motorcycle had been painted and no key was required to start it. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 2. Rather, the motorcycle had an ignition switch. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 2, p. 132, lines 15-25.

The officer impounded the motorcycle until the owner could provide proof of ownership and insurance. Trial Tr. p. 135, lines 16-19. A few days after the stop, Officer Stegall discovered that Cody Pratt reported his Yamaha motorcycle had been stolen. Trial Tr. p. 134, line 19 through p. 135, line 7. He also noted that the last five

numbers of the VIN were the same as the motorcycle he seized. Trial Tr. p. 134, line 19 through p. 135, line 7.

Police notified Cody Pratt that they may have found his stolen motorcycle. Trial Tr. p. 78, line 10 through p. 79, line 5. Pratt went to the impound lot and identified the motorcycle as his although it had been modified in several ways. Trial Tr. p. 78, line 10 through p. 79, line 5, p. 82, line 1 through p. 96, line 25, Exhs. 3-5; Exh. App. 3-7. Pratt testified that the gas cap was broken, it had been spray painted black, it had a "kill switch" on it, the wiring had been cut, it had no license plate, no mirrors, no turn signals, and the passenger foot pegs had been drilled off. Trial Tr. p. 82, line 1 through p. 96, line 25. Pratt noted that the motorcycle was not a common model and parts for it were hard to find. Trial Tr. p. 106, lines 12-23. He paid between \$3500-\$3800 for the motorcycle when he bought it in 2013 in Wisconsin. Trial Tr. p. 108, lines 4-16. He obtained an estimate of \$2700 to repair the damage and modifications that had been done to the motorcycle after it was stolen. Trial Tr. p. 103, line 18 through p. 104, line 1. Additional facts will be discussed below as relevant to the State's case.

ARGUMENT

I. Counsel Effectively Represented the Defendant At Trial; Sufficient Evidence Exists In The Record to Support the Defendant's Conviction For Theft By Taking.

Preservation of Error

The State does not agree that Hanneman's sufficiency challenge was properly preserved. At the close of the State's case, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal in the following manner:

... the basis for [the motion for judgment of acquittal] is that the State has not met its burden such that a reasonable juror could find my client guilty of theft in the second degree per the taking theory, which is to say that while the State, I think, has been able to prove up possession and control, it has not proved that there is a specific intent by my client to deprive Cody, at least not beyond a reasonable doubt, as to that piece of property. . .

Trial Tr. p. 138, lines 6-18 (emphasis added). In his motion for judgment of acquittal, defense counsel conceded that the State proved Hanneman possessed and controlled the motorcycle. Trial Tr. p. 138, lines 6-18. Notably, that is *not* the claim on which Hanneman now makes on appeal. Rather, he now claims that the State did not prove he "took" the motorcycle.

Hanneman cannot have it both ways. He cannot concede below that sufficient evidence exists on the possession and control and assert the opposite is true on appeal. Because he failed to properly challenge the claim below, he has not preserved error on his sufficiency challenge. *State v. Ambrose*, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015) (the principles of error preservation are based on fairness: it is fundamentally unfair to fault the court for failing to correctly rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider and it is also unfair for a party to remain silent in the trial court in the face of error and then assert the claim on appeal if the outcome is unfavorable). Error was not preserved.

Hanneman alternatively argues that counsel was ineffective in failing to lodge the proper objection. The State does not contest error preservation as to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and will address the claim in this context. *State v. Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006) (ineffective assistance of counsel claims are not bound by traditional error preservation rules).

Standard of Review

A court reviews constitutional challenges such as a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo. *Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d at 783.

Merits

Counsel effectively represented Hanneman at trial. To prove otherwise, Hanneman must demonstrate that counsel failed to lodge the proper challenge to the evidence in his motion for judgment of acquittal. He cannot do so because counsel neither breached a duty nor can Hanneman establish the requisite prejudice.

"The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). A defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove both that counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted. *Id.* at 687.

The test for the first element is objective: whether counsel's performance was outside the range of normal competency. *Millam v*. *State*, 745 N.W.2d 719, 721 (Iowa 2008). Counsel is presumed to have acted competently and within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. *DeVoss v. State*, 648 N.W.2d 56, 64 (Iowa 2002). To overcome this presumption, Hanneman must present an

affirmative basis establishing inadequate representation. *Millam*, 745 N.W.2d at 721.

The test for the second element is whether the defendant can prove there is a reasonable probability that, without counsel's errors, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. *Id.* at 722; *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 143 (Iowa 2001). A reviewing court may dispose of an ineffective-assistance claim if the defendant fails to prove *either* the duty or the prejudice prong. *State v. Lane*, 743 N.W.2d 178, 184 (Iowa 2007).

A. Breach of duty

Hanneman cannot show counsel breached a duty in failing to challenge the State's evidence regarding the "taking" element of second degree theft. The district court instructed the jury that to convict Hanneman of second-degree theft, the State had to prove:

Alternative A:

- 1. On or about the 17th day of February2017, in Scott County, Iowa, the defendant took possession or control of a Yamaha motorcycle.
- 2. The defendant did so with the specific intent to permanently deprive Cody Pratt of the motorcycle.
- 3. At the time of the taking, the motorcycle belonged to Cody Pratt.

OR

Alternative B:

- 1. On or about the 17th day of February, 2017, in Scott County, Iowa, the defendant took possession or control of a motor vehicle.
- 2. The defendant did so with the specific intent to permanently deprive Cody Pratt of the motor vehicle.
- 3. At the time of the taking, the motor vehicle belonged to Cody Pratt.
- 4. The motor vehicle's value did not exceed \$10,000. Jury Instr. 16; App. 34.

This instruction follows Iowa Code section 714.1(1) which provides that a person commits "theft by taking" when he or she "[t]akes possession or control of the property of another, or property in the possession of another, with the intent to deprive the other thereof." Iowa Code § 714.1(1); *State v. Nall*, 894 N.W.2d 514, 517-18 (Iowa 2017). For purposes of theft by taking, the term "property" includes both "tangible and intangible property, labor, and services." Iowa Code §702.14.

This theft provision "is modeled after the Model Penal Code, with slight variation." *State v. Donaldson*, 663 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003). Under the Model Penal Code, "[a] person is

guilty of theft if he unlawfully takes, or exercises unlawful control over, movable property of another with purpose to deprive him thereof." Model Penal Code § 223.2(1), at 162 (Am. Law Inst. 1962). Use of the term "unlawful" in the Code "implies the lack of consent or authority." *Id.* cmt. 3, at 166. "[T]he critical inquiry is thus twofold: whether the actor had control of the property no matter how he got it, and whether the actor's acquisition or use of the property was authorized." *Id.* cmt. 2, at 166.

The State established Hanneman's unlawful possession of the motorcycle without the consent of Cody Pratt. Pratt reported the theft of his distinctive Yamaha WR250X motorcycle on February 17, 2017. Trial Tr. p. 78, lines 5-21. Pratt bought the motorcycle in 2013 for a price between \$3500 and \$3800. Trial Tr. p. 108, lines 4-16.

A Davenport police officer saw Hanneman driving a motorcyle on one wheel on February 17, 2017, and stopped him. Trial Tr. p. 129, line 12 through p. 130, line 10. Hanneman did not have a license plate on the motorcycle nor did he have the registration for it. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 2 through p. 131, line 2. In addition, only five of the seventeen numbers of the VIN were visible. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 12. The other twelve numbers had been scratched

off. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 12. The motorcycle had been spray painted black, the ignition had been changed and replaced with a switch, the wiring had been cut, the tail pipe removed, the motorcycle had no license plates and no mirrors. Trial Tr. p. 130, line 18 through p. 131, line 12, p. 132, lines 15-25. Despite these modifications, Pratt identified the motorcycle as his. Trial Tr. p. 78, line 14 through p. 79, line 2, p. 79, line 10 through p. 83, line 3. Pratt also testified that he did not give Hanneman permission to possess his motorcycle. Trial Tr. p. 104, lines 2-11.

Pratt took his motorcycle to a repair shop and obtained an estimate to repair the motorcycle. Trial Tr. p. 103, line 20 through p. 104, line 1. The estimated cost of repair the motorcycle was \$2700. Trial Tr. p. Trial Tr. p. 103, line 20 through p. 104, line 1. In light of this evidence, the State established both alternatives of second-degree theft that were marshalled. That is, the State proved Hanneman possessed Pratt's motorcycle without his authority or permission. The evidence also established that Hanneman possessed a motor vehicle without the owner's permission and that the value of the vehicle did not exceed \$10,000. Because the evidence establishes

each and every element, counsel had no duty to claim that the State failed to show a "taking" occurred.

Hanneman argues, however, that the evidence was insufficient to establish that he "took" Pratt's motorcycle from his porch or when it was taken. Def. Brief at 22. The same issue was raised and rejected in *State v. Hershberger*, 534 N.W.2d 464, 465 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995), a case with a nearly identical factual scenario to the case at bar. In *Hershberger*, Stanley DeYoung moved his Honda motorcycle from his garage to his porch on July 3, 1993, and left the key in the motorcycle. 534 N.W.2d at 465. On July 6th, he noticed that the motorcycle was missing. *Id.* DeYoung contacted the police and reported it stolen. *Id.*

Also on July 6th, a sheriff's deputy saw Hershberger and Justin Baird replacing parts on a motorcycle of a different color in Baird's garage. *Id*. The deputy testified that the VIN of the motorcycle Hershberger was working on matched the VIN of DeYoung's stolen motorcycle. *Id*. Hershberger told the deputy his aunt had given him the motorcycle the night before. *Id*.

The defendant in Hershberger admitted that he possessed the motorcycle but challenged the sufficiency of the evidence as to

whether the State proved he "took" the motorcycle. *Id.* at 465. In *Hershberger*, the Court of Appeals found that "a person cannot commit theft by taking without also being in possession of stolen property." *Id.* at 466 (citing *State v. Conger*, 434 N.W.2d 406, 409-10 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)). Theft by taking and exercising control over stolen property "represent different points of time within one crime." *Conger*, 434 N.W.2d at 409-10. They are alternative means of committing the offense. *State v. Williams*, 328 N.W.2d 504, 506 n. 3 (Iowa 1983). The court also stated: "we agree with the State's position defendant's possession and control of the motorcycle are sufficient evidence to support a finding that there was a taking." *Hershberger*, 534 N.W.2d at 466.

The court's holding in *Hershberger* has been reaffirmed in subsequent cases. In *State v. Donaldson*, 663 N.W.2d 882, 885 (Iowa 2003), the court noted:

We now define theft as the possession or control of another's property with intent to deprive the owner thereof. The key to our statute is the words "possession or control." In determining the meaning of "possession" and "control," we look to the Model Penal Code for guidance as our statute is modeled after it. The Model Penal Code contemplates "control" of the object to begin when the defendant "use[s] it in a manner beyond his authority." Model Penal Code § 223.2 at 166. The method of exerting control over the object of the theft is important only insofar as it "sheds light on the authority of the actor to behave

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